1. INTRODUCTION

The trial court entered final orders of dissolution that, contrary to

Washington law, penalize Rachelle Black for seeking a divorce after she

came to understand that she was a lesbian. The court attempted to justify

its order' s by saying the children would find it " challenging" to adjust to

the divorce and their mother' s " homosexuality" because she and her

former husband. Charles Black, had raised their children as conservative

Christians who belonged to a church that espoused condemnation of

homosexuality as a sin. The orders are manifestly unjust, contrary to

Washington precedent, and unconstitutional; they also ignore that

Rachelle was a stay -at -honk mother for 15 years, was found to have a

strong relationship with her children, and that there were no findings that

the children would actually be harmed by their mother. Rachelle appeals

the restrictions on her speech, conduct, and religion; the restrictions on the

ability of her partner to be present with her children; a residential time

decision that limits her time with her children to four overnights every two

weeks; the denial ol' maintenance; an award of child support to Charles; 

and the designation of sole decision- making authority related to the

children' s religion, education. and day care to Charles. The Court should

reverse the orders and, where necessary, remand Ibr further proceedings. 

11. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

The trial court erred when it entered a Final Parenting Plan

that imposes restrictions on Rachelle' s conduct, speech, and religion, and

110A 1. 124(, 983939



on the ability of her partner to have contact with her children. See CP 41

para. 6, 49 ( Final Parenting Plan §§ 3. 13. 7, 3. 13. 8). 

2:. The trial court erred when it entered a Final Parenting Plan

that establishes Charles as the primary residential parent and reduces

Rachelle' s role from a stay -at -home mother to having her children four

overnights every two weeks. See CP 41 para. 4. 46 -50 ( Final Parenting

Plan § 3). 

3. The trial court erred in entering a Final Parenting Plan that

gives Charles sole decision - making authority over the children' s

education, religion, and day care. See CP 51 ( Final Parenting Plan § 4). 

The trial court erred in entering a Decree of Dissolution

that denied spousal maintenance for Rachelle. See CP 42 para. 4, 69

Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law § 2. 12), 78 ( Decree of

Dissolution § 3. 7). 

5. Because the trial court erred in designating Charles as the

primary custodial parent, the trial court erred in entering a Child Support

Order requiring Rachelle to pay child support. See CP 42 para. 5, 49 ( Final

Parenting Plan § 3. 12), 55 -66 (Child Support Order § 3). 

6. The trial court erred by entering findings of fact that are not

supported by substantial evidence, including, but not limited to, findings

that Charles is the more stable parent and that Rachelle was gone from the

home 20 percent of the time before the final orders of dissolution were

entered by the Trial court. See Findings of Fact 2. 12, 2. 19, 2. 20, 2. 21. A. 19, 

2- 
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A. 21, A. 36, and A. 37' and underlined findings in the trial court' s Letter

Decision,' Final Parenting Plan, and Child Support Order attached as

Appendices A -D. See Appendix A, at CP 69 -71, 73 -75; Appendix B, at CP

39 -42; Appendix C, at CP 51; Appendix D, at CP 56, 62. 

I1I. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

I . Whether a trial court can impose restrictions upon a

parent' s speech, conduct, or religion during their residential time without

making specific findings of harm to the children and without relating the

specific restrictions to any findings of harm? ( Assignment of Error I.) 

Did the trial court improperly impose restrictions on

Rachelle' s speech, conduct, or religion based on her sexual orientation? 

Assignment of Error I.) 

3. Did the trial court improperly impose restrictions upon

Rachclle' s speech, conduct, or religion in violation of her constitutional

rights under the U. S. and State of Washington Constitutions? 

Assignments of Error I and 3.) 

4. Whether a trial court can consider a parent' s sexual

orientation in its residential placement decision? (Assignment of Error 2.) 

These findings el Biel have also been underlined in Appendix A. 

The trial court incorporated the Letter Decision into the Findings of Fact and

Conclusions of Law and into the Decree of Dissolution, CP 71, 75, 80, and it is therefore • 

a basis for the trial court' s orders. State v. Wilks, 70 Wn. 2d 626, 629, 424 P. 2d 663
1967) ( written memoranda are considered on appeal as a basis for trial court' s judgment

where incorporated into findings, conclusion, and judgment), disapproved ofon other
grounds hr Slate v. / dead, 136 Wn. 2d 619, 964 P. 2d 1 187 ( 1998). The trial court also

incorporated the Parenting Plan and Child Support Order into the Findings of Fact and
Conclusions of Law as findings of fact. CP 70. 

LECnV I. 1 24(, 98593 9



5. Whether the trial court considered impermissible factors

outside of those enumerated in RCW 26. 09. 187( 3), such as a parent' s

earning capacity and religious views, in its residential time decision? 

Assignment of Error 2.) 

6. Whether the trial court properly weighed the factors

enumerated in RCW 26. 09. 187( 3) in its residential time decision, in

particular, failing to credit Rachelle' s strong relationship with the children

and role as a stay -at -home parent? (Assignment of Error 2.) 

Whether the trial court can express a preference tbr one

parent' s religion over another and award sole decision- making authority

regarding religion to one parent without making Findings of substantial

harm to the children? (Assignment of Error 3.) 

8. Whether the trial court can give one parent sole decision - 

making authority without the requisite statutory findings under RCW

26.09. 191 and RCW 26.09. 187( 2)? ( Assignment of Error 3.) 

9. Whether the trial court denied spousal maintenance for

untenable reasons when it inadequately analyzed the factors under RCW

26.09. 090? (Assignment of Error 4.) 

10. Whether the order of child support should be reversed

because of the trial court' s error in the residential time decision? 

Assignment of Error 5.) 

11. Whether the trial court erred by entering findings of fact

that are not supported by substantial evidence, including, hut not limited

to, findings that

I. GOAIJ 2469X8919
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gone from the home 20 percent of the time before the final orders of

dissolution were entered by the trial court? ( Assignment of Error 6.) 

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. The Parties' Marriage

Appellant Rachelle Black is a 39- year -old mother of three children, 

ages 15, 12, and 8. CP 73. She married Respondent Charles Black when

she was 19, in 1994. Id. In 1995, the couple settled in the Tacoma area, 

where they had met and Rachelle had been raised. RP 53, 150 -51; Ex 40, 

at 6. Both worked at the business owned by Rachelle' s parents — Charles

in the lumber yard and Rachelle in the office doing data entry. RP 191 - 92. 

The Blacks had their first child, a boy, in 1999, and agreed that

Rachelle should stay at home with their child while Charles continued to

work. CP 73; RP 192. Rachelle therefore trained Charles to do her office

job, and when their child was born, Charles took over Rachelle' s position. 

RP 192. Over the course of their 20 -year marriage, Charles was promoted

at his in- laws' company; Rachelle' s parents gave the couple the two - story, 

live - bedroom home Rachelle grew up in; and, in 2002 and 2006, the

couple had two more boys. CP 73; RP 192, 237, 267, 287, 306 -07. 

The family also. jained the conservative Christian church at which

Rachelle' s parents were and continue to be elders. CP 73; RP 184. When

their lirst child was old enough, they jointly decided to send him to a

private, Christian school, and ultimately made the same decision for their

other two boys. CP 39, 4 1; RP 145. Rachelle continued to work as a stay - 

at -home mother for the three children. CP 40, 74; RP 134, 175 -76, 256. 

LEGAI, 20698893. 9



As a stay -at -home mother, Rachelle was the primary caretaker of

the children, parenting them while Charles worked and taking care of the

housekeeping, grocery shopping, and cooking, as well as volunteering in

the children' s schools. CP 40, 74; RP 95 -97, 104 -05, 120, 125 -26, 128 -34, 

175 -76, 287. Rachelle tool: the children to the doctor and made the day -to- 

day health care decisions for the children. RP 99, 143 -44, 256 -57, 401, 

407 -08. There is no dispute that Rachelle maintained a strong and stable

relationship with her children. See CP 40; RP 101 - 03, 362; Ex 58. 

13. The Parties' Separation

Several years ago, Rachelle began to question her sexuality and in

December 2011 told her husband that she thought she night be a lesbian. 

CP 40, 73; RP 271. Charles told Rachelle that she should figure it out. 

RP 409. On May 8, 2013, Rachelle petitioned for dissolution. CP 1. The

trial court noted the parties' date of separation as May 19, 2013. CP 68. 

The parties continued to live together until the divorce decree was

final on September 19, 2014, although Rachelle had moved to a separate

bedroom of the house in January 2012. CP 73, 76 -80; RP 269, 320. From

commencement to conclusion of the dissolution, Rachelle continued to be

a stay -at- home mother,3 cooking meals, volunteering at the children' s

schools, and taking care ofthem before and after school. CP 40; RP 120- 

22. 125 -26, 128 -34, 141. Charles continued to work full time. RP 287. 

The court found that Rachelle stopped being a stay -at -home mother in 2011, a finding
Rachelle disputes. CI' 74 finding of Fact A21. In fact, Rachelle continued in that role
until trial. CP 73; RP 120 -22, 125 -26, 128 -34, 141. 

1. EGIA1. 121698893. 9



Rachelle also maintained her Christian beliefs, although she modified her

viewpoints regarding homosexuality. RP 276 -77. 

While the dissolution was pending, the parties cooperated in the

management of parenting without temporary orders. RP 141 - 43, 322 -23; 

see Exs. 2, 5, 6, 41, 44, 45. They specifically agreed that each should have

individual time with the children, and so Rachelle wou Id leave the family

home to allow Charles his time. RP 367 -68. Rachelle took the children to

events on her own, including sporting events and camping. RP 108, 1 10- 

1 1. She also took some time to make new friends, come to terms with her

sexuality, and ultimately, entered into a relationship with a woman, 

Angela Van 1- loose. RP I 1 1 - 12, 1 14 - 16, 167. The trial court found that

from December 2011 to March 8, 2014, Rachelle was home 80 percent of

the time. CP 40, 73. Rachelle disputes that she was absent 20 percent of

the time; indeed, as discussed in Section V.C.2, infra, there is no

substantial evidence to support the trial court' s calculation. Regardless, the

het that she was home 80 percent of the time while Charles worked full

time indicates that she continued to be the primary caretaker of the

children. 

C. The Divorce Proceedings and Trial

Both Rachelle and Charles sought to be the primary residential

parent. CI' 5; Ex 2, at 2 -4; Ex 41, at 3 - 8. Charles also requested sole

decision- making authority on all aspects regarding the children' s lives

except non - emergency health care. Ex 41, at ID. Rachelle requested sole

decision- making authority for educational and non- emergency health care

7- 
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and joint decision- making authority regarding the children' s religious

upbringing. RP 256, 258; Ex 2, at 6. She requested two years of $2, 000

monthly spousal maintenance so she could complete a two -year degree

program and be better able to support herselfthan she could with only her

high school degree. RP 196 -97; Ex 6. at 3. Charles would not agree to

maintenance and sought to take possession oldie home. RP 307, 384. 

Charles also sought severe restrictions on Rachelle' s speech, 

conduct, and religious expression pursuant to RCW 26. 09. 191 — all related

to Rachelle' s sexual orientation and the evolution of her religious

viewpoints. Ex 41, at 2 -3, 7 -8. In particular, he sought to prohibit her from

discussing homosexuality or anything related to " alternative lifestyles" 

with her children, from discussing religion with her children, or from

participating in any activity that might " relate" to homosexuality or

alternative lifestyles," unless explicitly approved by the children' s

therapist. Id. Rachelle did not agree to these restrictions and did not seek

to impose similar restrictions on Charles. Ex 2, at 2, 4 -5; see RP 260 -66. 

The parties went to trial in August 2014. CP 28 -33. 

The guardian ad litem report and testimony. 

At Charles' s request, the trial court appointed a guardian ad litem

GAL"), Kelly LeBlanc, who filed a report and testified at trial. CP 5, 18- 

23; see RP 13 -78. In both. the GAL reveals discomfort with and judgment

of Rochelle,' for example, criticizing and exaggerating behavior of

As discussed below (see. e. g., footnote 10, irrfi o), the GA Ls report and testimony also
included multiple factual errors and assumptions Mal were not supported by any
evidence. 

8- 
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Rachelle' s that was more than two decades old ( i.e., when she was 17 or

18) and is typical of many young adults. RP 166 -68, 187 -88; Ex 40, at 5 - 6. 

The GAL also repeatedly characterized Rachelle' s sexuality using

discriminatory and outdated phrases such as ` lifestyle choice" and " gender

preference decision," and implied that Rachelle should have stayed in the

marriage and acted on her " alternative lifestyle" only after her children

were grown. See RP 14, 33, 39, 41 - 45; Ex 39, at 3, 6 -7; Ex 40, at 17, 21- 

22. Indeed, the GAL expressed concern over the fact that Rachelle

discussed homosexuality and the meaning of the word'` transgender" with

her children. RP 47; Ex 40, at 23 -24. 

Consistent with these views, the GAL testified that, in her opinion, 

the children, who had been raised in a " sheltered" conservative Christian

environment, would be unable to handle the reality that their mother was a

lesbian or her evolving religious beliefs regarding homosexuality and

divorce. RP 36 -37, 45 -49, 61. Even though she believed Rachelle had a

strong relationship with her children, RP 76 -77, the GAL proposed severe

restrictions on Rachelle' s time with the children and on her speech, 

conduce, and exercise of religion when with the children, Ex 40, at 25. She

recommended Charles be the primary residential parent. RP 14- 15; Ex 40, 

at 24- 25. 

Other testimony. 

The court heard additional testimony from the parties; the

children' s therapist. Jennifer Knight; the children' s former principal and

teacher; a parent at the children' s school; and Angela Van 1 - loose

LE( iA I. 1 24698893 9



described by the court clerk as " Petitioner' s Gay Partner" on the witness

record). CP 34. Overall, the testimony reflected Rachelle' s strong

relationship with the children and good parenting skills. For example, the

children' s therapist, who had become involved at the recommendation of

the GAL, testified that the children have a strong emotional bond with

their mother, are close to her, find comfort from her, and were becoming

accepting of their mother being in a same -sex relationship. RP 350, 362; 

Ex 38. The GAL testified that Rachelle had a strong bond with her

children. RP 28, 76 -77. Multiple witnesses testified that Rachelle had

continued to live in the home and be the primary caretaker of the children

during the in -home separation, including preparing meals, taking care of

the children while Charles worked, and volunteering at schools. RP 63, 

120 -22, 125 -26, 128 -34, 141, 211- 12, 214, 229. Charles also testified that

Rachelle is a " pretty good mother," she loves the children and the children

love her, and he has no concerns for their physical safety while with her. 

RP 382. 

The testimony also reflects Charles' s discomfort with and hostility

toward Rachelle' s lesbian identity. Rachelle offered testimony that

Charles had referred to her as a'' niilitant lesho;" that he tracked her

activity on the computer; that he had told her parents, her pastor, her

fiends, and the principal of the children' s school about her sexuality

before she was ready; and that he told her he would take the children away

from her because she was gay. RP 174, 176 -79, 181 - 82, 200 -02, 270 -72; 

Exs 57, 59. Charles admitted to referring to Rachelle in those terms, 

10- 
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tracking her computer activity, and telling people about her sexuality

before she was ready. RP 328 -29, 369 -73, 382. Charles also attempted to

justify the restrictions he sought to impose on Rachelle by asking the trial

court to lind, under RCW 26. 09. 191, that Rachelle had willfully

abandoned the children, had neglected or substantially not performed

parenting functions, and had a long -terns impairment resulting from

substance abuse that interfered with her ability to perform parenting

functions. RP 376 -79; Ex 41, at 2 -3. The trial court r41ected these

allegations. CP 41, 46, 74. 

1). The Court' s Final Divorce Orders and Findings

Ultimately, the trial court endorsed the GAL' s view that the

children would find it " challenging" to adjust to Rachelle as a lesbian. 

Accordingly, the court designated Charles the primary residential parent

and the sole decision maker regarding the children' s religion, education, 

and day care; entered restrictions limiting Rachelle' s speech, conduct, and

free exercise of religion in the limited amount of time she has with her

children; denied Rachelle' s request for spousal maintenance; and ordered

her to pay child support. CP 46 -49, 51, 55, 69, 78. Yet the trial court

expressly declined to find a basis for restrictions under RCW 26. 09. 191

and otherwise made no tactual finding that the children would be harmed

by their mother' s sexual orientation, conduct, or religion; that Rachelle

was a poor parent; or that she would not he able to meet her children' s

needs. See CP 39 -42, 46, 49, 73 -75. 

I - 
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I. The court restricted Rachelle' s conduct. 

Adopting the proposal in Charles' s parenting plan, the trial court

ordered Rochelle not to discuss her sexual orientation with the children, 

homosexuality in general, religion, or anything related to any " alternative

lifestyles," or otherwise " expose" them to such concepts, unless she gets

specific and prior authorization from the children' s therapist for each and

every such discussion or activity. CP 49. Specifically, Rochelle is

prohibited from: 

having further conversations with the children regarding
religion, homosexuality, or other alternative lifestyles
concepts and further that she is prohibited from exposing
the children to literature or electronic media; taking then to
movies or events; providing them with symbolic clothing or
jewelry; or otherwise engaging in conduct that could
reasonably be interpreted as being related to those topics
unless the discussion, conduct or activity is specifically
authorized and approved by [ the children' s therapist.] 

Id., at § 3. 13. 8: The court also ordered that Rachelle' s children have no

contact with her partner without prior therapist approval and the

therapist' s determination of how and when any contact should occur. Id.. 

at § 3. 13. 7. The court imposed no equivalent restrictions on Charles. Id., at

3. 13. His speech has not been limited, and he may bring people he is

dating around the children whenever and however he chooses.`' Id. 

Although Rochelle may be able to engage in some of this speech

and conduce with specific and prior approval from the children' s therapist, 

it is not clear from the wording of the order how much the therapist can

Court of Appeals Commissioner Schmidt issued a stay of this restriction on January 22. 
2015; the Court denied Charles' s motion to modify on February 11, 2015. 

Charles is merely required to ' use counseling services" of his choice belhre introducing
the children to someone with " whom he has a serious relationship." CP 49. 

12- 
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authorize. See CP 49 § 3. 13. 8. Moreover, the order makes the restrictions

permanent and the need for therapist approval ongoing and specific to

every activity and eheiy conversation. which requires the therapist lo be

available on an ongoing, on -call basis. See id. Finally, even if the therapist

does approve certain conduct or speech, the therapist appears to have the

power to reverse her decision later. Id. 

2. The court limited Rachelle' s residential time. 

The court made Charles the primary residential parent and

restricted Rachelle' s residential time to every other Thursday afternoon

through Monday morning. CP 46 -49. This was despite the court finding

that Rachelle had a strong and stable relationship with her children, 

showed a good potential for future performance of parenting functions, 

and had been a " traditional stay -at -home mother for the majority" of the

marriage. CP 40, 46 -49, 75. 

The court awarded sole decision- making authority
regarding education and religion to Charles. 

The trial court also awarded sole decision - making authority

regarding the children' s religion, education, and day care to Charles on the

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