No. 46788-7-II

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION II

RACHELLE K. BLACK,

Appellant,

٧.

CHARLES W. BLACK,

Respondent.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

MASTERS LAW GROUP, P.L.L.C. Shelby R. Frost Lemmel, WSBA 33099 241 Madison Ave. North Bainbridge Island, WA 98110 (206) 780-5033 Attorney for Respondent

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

ARGUMENT

A. Standards of Review. (BA 14-15).

The parties agree that the parenting plan, maintenance decision and child support order are reviewed for an abuse of discretion. BA 14 (citing *In re Marriage of Chandola*, 180 Wn.2d 632, 642, 327 P.3d 644 (2014); *In re Marriage of Zahm*, 138 Wn.2d

213, 226-27, 978 P.2d 498 (1999) (maintenance); and *State ex rel J.V.G. v. Van Guilder*, 137 Wn. App. 417, 423, 154 P.3d 243 (2007) (child support)). Appellate courts are generally reluctant to interfere with the trial court's exercise of its equitable powers in dissolution cases:

We once again repeat the rule that trial court decisions in a dissolution action will seldom be changed upon appeal. Such decisions are difficult at best. Appellate courts should not encourage appeals by tinkering with them. The emotional and financial interests affected by such decisions are best served by finality. The spouse who challenges such decisions bears the heavy burden of showing a manifest abuse of discretion on the part of the trial court. . . The trial court's decision will be affirmed unless no reasonable judge would have reached the same conclusion.

In re Marriage of Landry, 103 Wn.2d 807, 809-10, 699 P.2d 214 (1985) (internal citations omitted).

The trial count abuses its discretion only when its decision is "manifestly unreasonable or based on untenable grounds or untenable reasons." *Chandola*, 180 Wn.2d at 642 (quoting *In re Marriage of Katare*, 175 Wn.2d 23, 35, 283 P.3d 546 (2012)). The court's findings or fact are treated as verities on appeal, "so long as they are supported by substantial evidence." *Chandola*, 180 Wn.2d at 642 (citing *Katare*, 175 Wn.2d at 35, (citing *Ferree v. Doric Co.*, 62 Wn.2d 561, 568, 383 P.2d 900 (1963))). "Substantial evidence"

is evidence sufficient to persuade a fair-minded person of the truth of the matter asserted." *Chandola*, 180 Wn.2d at 642 (citing *Katare*, 175 Wn.2d at 35).

Rachelle states, however, that "Constitutional challenges are reviewed de novo." BA 15. But in the context of two parents with competing fundamental rights, Rachelle oversimplifies the issue. *Katare*, 175 Wn.2d at 42. Rachelle ignores that our courts may limit parental rights in dissolution proceedings, in which the courts are not focused exclusively on one parent, but on both parents' rights and on the children's best interests. 175 Wn.2d at 42. As the *Katare* Court explained:

We have long recognized a parent's right to raise his or her children may be limited in dissolution proceedings because the competing fundamental rights of both parents and the best interests of the child must also be considered.

175 Wn.2d at 42 (citing *In re Marriage of King*, 162 Wn.2d 378, 388, 174 P.3d 659 (2007) ("[F]undamental constitutional rights are not implicated in a dissolution proceeding"); *Momb v. Ragone*, 132 Wn. App. 70, 77, 130 P.3d 406 (2006) ("[N]o case has applied a strict scrutiny standard when weighing the interests of two parents")). As the Court succinctly put it, "a parenting plan that 'complies with the statutory requirements to promote the best interests of the children'

does not violate a parent's constitutional rights." *Katare*, 175 Wn.2d at 42 (quoting *In re Marriage of Katare*, 125 Wn. App. 813, 823, 105 P.3d 44 (2004)).⁷

B. The parenting plan provision requiring Knight to preapprove time with Van Hoose and certain conversation topics is now moot. (BA 16-26).

Rachelle's lead argument on appeal is that the trial court violated her first amendment rights to free speech and free exercise of religion, by requiring Knight to preapprove Van Hoose's presence during Rachelle's residential time and conversations about homosexuality and related topics. CP 49 ¶ 3:13.7 & .8; BA 16-26. This issue is moot and the Court need not consider it.

An issue is moot "if the court cannot provide the basic relief originally sought or can no longer provide effective relief." *Bavand v. OneWest Bank, FSB*, 176 Wn. App. 475, 510, 309 P.3d 636 (2013) (quoting *Dioxin/Organochlorine Ctr. v. Pollution Control Hearings Bd.*, 131 Wn.2d 345, 350-51, 932 P.2d 158 (1997) (citations omitted) (quoting *Snohomish County v. State*, 69 Wn. App. 655, 660, 850 P.3d 546 (1993)). Rachelle neglects to mention that in early February 2015, Knight approved Van Hoose's presence

⁷ Standards of review are discussed in more detail below where relevant.

during all of Rachelle's residential time with the children. Dec. of C. Black in Support of Mtn. to Modify. This moots the parenting-plan provision requiring Knight to pre-approve Van Hoose's contact with the children. CP 49, ¶ 3.13.7.

Rachelle also fails to address the effect of this Court's rulings on her appeal. This Court upheld the Commissioner's extraordinary order staying in part the parenting plan. 2/11/15 Order Denying Mtn. to Modify. As such, there is currently no limitation on Van Hoose's presence during Rachelle's residential time, or on what Rachelle can discuss with the children and expose them to. This effectively reversed the trial court as to this issue.

The point of the parenting plan provision was to give the children time to adjust to their parents' divorce, Rachelle's sexual orientation, and her relationship with Van Hoose. CP 40-41; RP 23-33, 350, 353. This was necessary due in large part to the parties' joint decision to raise the children in a very sheltered, fundamentalist, dogmatic environment, leaving them without any context for divorce and homosexuality, or worse yet, believing the latter was sinful. CP 39, 73; RP 32, 145, 149, 288-89, 346-47, 357-58; Ex 40 at 13. Staying the parenting-plan provision plainly renders any relief this Court could grant ineffective. Again, the point was to give the

children time – time is not something that can be given back to the children when this Court finally resolves this matter. *Bavand*, 176 Wn. App. at 510.

Thus, Chuck sees no reason to enforce this provision in the future. Nor does he see any point in spending considerable time and money to debate an issue that is now moot.

Rachelle's constitutional challenges are also entirely new. At trial, Rachelle repeatedly agreed abide to bv recommendations. RP 170-71, 249-51, 261-62. Although she opposed a parenting-plan provision holding her to her promises, she did not raise any of the constitutional challenges she now raises on appeal. 9/19 RP 9-11. Although this Court may consider "manifest" constitutional errors raised for the first time on appeal, the Court will avoid reaching constitutional questions where unnecessary to resolve the matter. RAP 2.5(a)(3); Cmty. Telecable of Seattle, Inc. v. City of Seattle, Dep't of Exec. Admin., 164 Wn.2d 35, 41, 186 P. 3d 1032 (2008) ("We will avoid deciding constitutional questions where a case may be fairly resolved on other grounds"). For these reasons too, this Court should not reach this issue.

C. The trial court's residential decision is well within its broad discretion and is amply supported by testimony from LeBlanc, Knight and Chuck Black. (BA 27-37).

In challenging the trial court's residential provisions, Rachelle's chief complaint is that the trial court improperly focused on her sexual orientation. BA 27-37. Indeed, Rachelle directly accuses the court of prejudice, stating that the court "demean[ed] and discriminat[ed] against Rachelle as a lesbian parent, signaling to the children that their mother is the subject of the state's disapproval." BA 27. These accusations are unfounded

Contrary to Rachelle's unfounded assertions, the residential schedule is not based on her sexual orientation, but on Chuck's parenting role for the last three years, and on his superior ability to provide much-needed stability for the boys:

These children have been described as naïve in some areas and C[.] has been described as very withdrawn socially. Part of this has been caused by the sheltered environment both parents chose for them and the significant time spent in religious education. These are not worldly children and the Guardian ad litem appropriately expressed her concern as to how stability is so significant for them. Here, Mr. Black is clearly the more stable parent in terms of the ability to provide for the needs of these children, both financially as well as emotionally and in maintaining their religious upbringing. These children have been taught from the Bible since age 4. I believe it will be very challenging for them to reconcile their religious upbringing with the changes occurring within their family over issues involving marriage and dissolution, as well as homosexuality.

... Mr. Black works full-time. His work hours allow him to take C[.] and E[.] to the school bus in the morning and then pick them up in the afternoon. His employer has indicated that they're willing to adjust his schedule to allow for a later start time and he would then be able to make arrangements for all three children to get to school in the morning while still being able to pick them up after school.

In the present case, I believe that Mr. Black should be designated as the primary residential parent. I make this finding based upon the role he has performed since 2011 in being the more stable parent.

CP 40-41. To hold in Rachelle's favor and reverse the residential provisions, this Court would have to look behind the trial court's plain language and assume: (1) that the trial court is prejudiced; and (2) that the court attempted to hide its prejudice by deliberately fabricating pre-textual rationales for the residential provisions. There is no basis for doing so.

1. The trial court designated Chuck the primary residential parent, where he has filled that role since December 2011, and is more capable of providing the stability the boys desperately need.

Rachelle argues that "continuity of the bonds between parent and child[] strongly favors Rachelle as the primary residential parent." BA 27; see also BA 16. Rachelle forgets – or ignores – as she has throughout this litigation, that continuity includes Chuck. Much as Rachelle presents herself as the primary parent, she was

not for years leading up to the divorce. CP 40-41; RP 16-17, 111, 117-18, 294-95, 299, 303, 306, 322-23, 325, 362.

When Rachelle began dating Van Hoose in December 2011, she spent less time at the children's schools and at home. *Supra*, Statement of the Case § D. The children asked Chuck where Rachelle was, reported her absences to LeBlanc, and told Knight that they had seen "a lot less" of her "over the last couple of years," and were spending more time with Chuck. RP 16-17, 303, 306, 362. Rachelle's parents also noted her absences, and school personal reported that she was less involved at school and often unavailable if the school called, such as when one of the children was sick. RP 17, 325. In such cases, Chuck left work to get the children. RP 17.

As discussed above and below, Chuck detailed his active involvement in the children's lives, particularly since December 2011. *Supra*, Statement of the Case § D. Knight opined that Chuck has been the more stable parent, and LeBlanc opined that Chuck had been, and should continue to be the primary residential parent. RP 14, 16-17, 71, 352-53. This too is substantial evidence supporting the trial court's decision. See *In re Marriage of Shui*, 132 Wn. App. 568, 591, 125 P.3d 180 (2005). This Court should affirm.

2. The trial court was not prejudiced against Rachelle because she is a lesbian.

Rachelle's accusations that the trial court "discriminate[d] against [her] as a lesbian parent" are unfounded. BA 27. Here, and throughout the brief, Rachelle overlooks the seriousness of the allegations she is making.

Our courts presume that trial courts "are fair and will properly 'discharge[] [their] official duties without bias or prejudice." *In re Disciplinary Proceeding Against King*, 168 Wn.2d 888, 904, 232 P.3d 1095 (2010) (quoting *In re Pers. Restraint of Davis*, 152 Wn.2d 647, 692, 101 P.3d 1 (2004)) (citing *Kay Corp. v. Anderson*, 72 Wn.2d 879, 885, 436 P.2d 459 (1967) *Jones v. Halvorson-Berg*, 69 Wn. App. 117, 127, 847 P.2d 945 (1993)). To overcome that presumption, Rachelle "must provide specific facts establishing bias." *In re Davis*, 152 Wn.2d at 692. "Judicial rulings alone almost never constitute a valid showing of bias." 152 Wn.2d at 692.

Rachelle fails to overcome the presumption that Judge Orlando discharged his duties fairly and without prejudice or bias. *In re King*, 168 Wn.2d at 904. Rachelle complains that the trial court "relied prominently on the GAL's biased views, whose reports reveal her obvious discomfort with and judgment of Rachelle . . ." BA 28.

Rachelle takes offense at LeBlanc's use of the following terms: "lifestyle choice," "gender preference decision," and "alternative lifestyle." *Id.* This language, Rachelle alleges, suggests the sentiment that Rachelle chose to be a lesbian or that Rachelle should have chosen not to express her sexual orientation. BA 29; *see also* RP 170.

LeBlanc clarified that she did not intend to imply that being gay or lesbian is a choice, but used "choice" to describe decisions Rachelle made to absent herself from the home, to divorce Chuck, and to live with Van Hoose (RP 43-44; Ex 40 at 21-22):

[M]y use of the word lifestyle choice was not intended to suggest that a gender preference decision is a matter of someone's discretion. I don't know the answer to that. . . So it is certainly not my place to suggest that her gender preference is or isn't a matter of choice. That wasn't my intent when I used the word.

What I'm saying is the choice to leave the marriage when you have three children and then to establish a relationship with a same sex partner when you've had kids raised in a very conservative parochial environment can be very controversial and people can be very mean. . . Ms. Black herself recounted in declarations her sadness and her sense of loss at friends who chose to turn their back on her after learning that she was a lesbian. That's heartbreaking, but it happens.

The terms LeBlanc used are outdated, and Rachelle's offense is understandable. BA 29. But LeBlanc explained her true meaning:

(1) that Rachelle chose to spend a lot of time away from the home while she explored her sexual orientation; (2) that she chose to divorce; and (3) that she chose to live with Van Hoose. RP 43-44; Ex 40 at 21-22. While these choices might be the natural result of Rachelle coming to understand that she is a lesbian, they are choices nonetheless. LeBlanc was not judging these choices, but candidly acknowledging that they can cause difficulties for the children. *Id.* That LeBlanc might have been more artful does not indicate that she is prejudiced. BA 28-29.

Rachelle also takes offense at LeBlanc's statement that choosing to end the marriage to live with the woman she plans to marry "disrupt[ed]" Rachelle's relationship with the children or caused confusion and controversy. BA 29 (quoting Ex 40 at 21-22). Contrary to Rachelle's arguments, no one claimed that choosing to live an "authentic li[fe]" "per se" harms the children. BA 29. CP 40-41; RP 43-44; Ex 40 at 21-22. But while it may be painful to hear, divorcing Chuck to eventually marry Van Hoose is disruptive and confusing for children who have no reference point for divorce or homosexuality, other than that it is sinful. RP 43-44, 164, 165-66, 349-50, 357-58; Ex 40 at 21-22. These children faced enormous changes – not just where and with whom they would live, or where

they would attend school, but whether their faith and beliefs held true.

RP 48. The obvious truth that these children are struggling does not show "prejudice" or "bias." BA 27, 29.

Rachelle faults the trial court for "embracing" LeBlanc's opinions, what she terms "an erroneous interjection of bias into the proceeding." BA 29. Again, LeBlanc was asked to explain her word-choice and did. RP 43-44; Ex 40 at 21-22. The trial court agreed with her recommendation that Chuck should "remain" the primary residential parent, giving valid reasons amply supporting its residential placement. CP 40-41.

In short, Rachelle plainly has not overcome the presumption that Judge Orlando discharged his duties fairly and without prejudice or bias.

3. The trial court correctly applied RCW 26.09.187(3).

Rachelle's argument that the trial court improperly applied RCW 26.09.187(3) wrongly assumes that since the trial court found that Rachelle has a strong relationship with the children, its discretion was limited to making Rachelle the primary residential parent. BA 30-37. But the trial court found that Chuck too has a strong relationship with the children. CP 40-41. The trial court did not

"ignore[]" Rachelle's relationship with the kids, but considered both parties' roles in their lives. BA 30-31. This Court should affirm.

This Court reviews the trial court's findings regarding residential placement for an abuse of discretion. *Shui*, 132 Wn. App. at 590. The residential placement must be in the children's best interest, after considering the following factors:

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